THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
In the Business Court

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-23-2325
Appellate Case No. 2019-001909

RECEIVED

Oct 08 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Stop-A-Minit #17, LLC,Appellant,

v.

Beck Enterprises, Inc.,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

William H. Edwards
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.
1700 Sunset Boulevard
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, South Carolina 29171
Telephone: (803) 796-9160
Facismile: (803) 791-8410
will@mttlaw.com
Attorney for Appellant.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court err in finding the Indemnification and Hold Harmless Agreement dated June 7, 2010, and executed by the Appellant and the Respondent on a later date to be a valid, enforceable contract, and if so, in also finding that Appellant has not met its obligations thereunder or that Beck is entitled to more than Zero Dollars?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from Greenville County in the Business Court by Appellant, Stop-A-Minit #17, LLC (hereinafter also referred to as "SAM#17"), from a judgment entered on July 10, 2019, in favor of the Respondent, Beck Enterprises, Inc. (hereinafter also referred to as "Beck"). Appellant timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment pursuant to Rule 59 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure on July 20, 2019 and served on July 22, 2019. On June 6, 2010, Drake Convenience, LLC, (hereinafter also referred to as "Drake") purchased the inventory and took possession of the personal and real property located at 1398 North Pleasantburg Drive, Greenville, South Carolina from Shirley and Mohamad Mereby. (R. p. 131-145). The real estate closing took place on June 7, 2010, between the Merebys as sellers and SAM#17 as the buyer, and the Indemnification and Hold Harmless Agreement (Indemnification Agreement) was signed by the parties hereto, SAM#17 and Defendant Beck Enterprises, Inc., (Beck) at the earliest, on June 9 and 10, 2010, after all consideration had already been given. (R. p. 38, 162-167). SAM#17 took possession of the location from the Merebys prior to the closing. (R. p. 37-38, 141-144). Cary Oil Co., Inc., (Cary) had a pre-existing motor fuel supply agreement (MFSA) with Beck for Exxon branded motor fuels to be sold at this location. (R. p. 42, 115-130). On or before June 6, 2010, Cary ceased supplying motor fuel to this station and O'Dell Oil Co., (O'Dell) began to supply Exxon branded motor fuel to SAM#17. (R. p. 36, 170-173).

On or about September 2010, SAM#17 and Drake decided to de-brand the station and SAM#17 paid \$48,648.00 for the cost of de-branding from Exxon before the fulfillment of the ten-year term of the MFSA. (R. p. 73, 77, 115-130, 170-174). Beck believes it is owed indemnification against claims for attorney's fees and costs related to claims made against Beck in a separate lawsuit related to an alleged breach of contract with Cary from the sale of the business to SAM#17. (R. p. 74). SAM#17 believes the Indemnification Agreement is not enforceable, or alternatively, that it has met all of its enforceable indemnification obligations even if the Indemnification agreement is found to be valid.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. *Gadson v. Hembree*, 364 S.C. 316, 613 S.E.2d 533 (2005); *Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 529, 608 S.E.2d 440 (S.C. App. 2004). Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied. *Baugus v. Wessinger*, 303 S.C. 412, 401 S.E.2d 169 (1991); *Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm'n*, 362 S.C. 1, 605 S.E.2d 744 (S.C. App. 2004).

However, when reasonable minds cannot differ on plain, palpable, and indisputable facts, summary judgment should be granted. *Ellis v. Davidson*, 358 S.C. 509, 595 S.E.2d 817 (S.C. App. 2004). The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 359 S.C. 372, 597 S.E.2d 181 (S.C. App. 2004).

Where the burden of proof is a preponderance of the evidence standard, the non-moving party must only submit a mere scintilla of evidence to withstand a motion for summary judgment. *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009); *Bass v. Gopal, Inc.*, 395 S.C. 129, 134, 716 S.E.2d 910, 912 (2011).

ARGUMENT

I. The Indemnification Agreement is not an enforceable contract because there was no valid consideration given to SAM#17 by Beck for the Indemnification Agreement.

The Indemnification Agreement lacks sufficient consideration in order to be considered a valid, enforceable contract because all of the consideration given to SAM#17 by Beck was only for prior agreements. All of the consideration that was given to SAM#17 by Beck was for the execution of the Agreement of Purchase and Sale of Real Estate, executed on May 10, 2010, the Bill of Sale, executed on June 6, 2010 and the Bill of Sale, executed on June 7, 2010 . (R. p. 131-144). All personal property in the transaction was exchanged between Beck and SAM in the execution of these two agreements. When the Indemnification Agreement was executed on June 10, 2010, as evidenced by an email exchange between the attorney for Beck and the Merebys, there was no valid consideration left to be given to SAM#17 for executing the agreement. (R. p. 162-163). The Drakes testified at trial on behalf of Appellant that none of Appellant's agents were aware of the Indemnification Agreement until after the closing of the Agreement of Purchase and Sale of Real Estate and after the execution of the Bill of Sale, all of which occurred on or before June 7, 2010. (R. p. 29, 36).

The trial court did not make a specific ruling as to Plaintiff's motion to amend pleadings to conform to the evidence at trial pursuant to Rule 15(b), but did allow Plaintiff to introduce such evidence over Defendant's objection at trial. (R. p. 71). *See* S.C. R. Civ. Pro. 15(b). Plaintiff raised

this issue again, as it was not ruled upon by the trial court in its Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment filed on July 20, 2019. (R. p. 192-198).

A motion to make such amendment of the pleadings as to conform to the evidence may be made by a party “at any time, even after judgment.” S.C. R. Civ. Pro. 15(b). Additionally, “if evidence is objected to at the trial on the ground that it is not within the issues made by the pleadings, the court may allow the pleadings to be amended and shall do so freely when the presentation of the merits of the action shall be sub served thereby...” *Id.* The only time a court should not allow this is when the objecting party shows “that the admission of such evidence would prejudice him in maintaining his action or defense upon the merits.” *Id.* Even in that situation though, the court could grant a continuance to enable the objecting party to have time to prepare their defense. *Id.*

In this matter, the trial court did not make a ruling, other than to allow Plaintiff to present evidence at trial as to the lack of consideration. There was no finding of prejudice against the Defendant. The issue of whether valid consideration was offered by Beck to SAM in signing the Indemnification Agreement is an issue in this case and is central to any conclusion as to the validity and enforceability of the Indemnification Agreement. As stated in Rule 15(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the trial court should have admitted and properly considered Plaintiff’s evidence on the issue of whether there was valid consideration.

It has long since been established in South Carolina law that “no contract is complete without a valid, legal consideration.” *Rabon v. State Finance Corp.*, 203 S.C. 183, 26 S.E.2d 501 (1943). When there is no valid, legal consideration given for the execution of a contract, there cannot be an enforceable agreement. *Id.* Additionally, it has also been well established in South Carolina that “consideration that is wholly past is not valuable consideration.” *Future Group, II v.*

Nationsbank, 324 S.C. 89, 478 S.E.2d 45 (1996). There must be some valid, beneficial consideration given to a party for the present exchange in order for an agreement to be considered enforceable. *Id.* Wholly past consideration, or consideration given for prior agreements, is not and has never been considered as valid, legal consideration for exchanges between parties in future agreements. *Id.* Past consideration is no consideration. “Promises made on a consideration that is wholly past, without any new consideration moving to it, are void, as being without consideration.” *Garrett v. Stuart*, 12 S.C.L. 514 (S.C. Const. App. 1821).

As evidenced in the Agreement of Purchase and Sale of Real Estate and the Bill of Sale, Beck had already given all personal property to be exchanged in the sale to SAM#17 prior to the drafting of the Indemnification Agreement. The Indemnification Agreement was not executed as part of the Agreement of Purchase and Sale of Real Estate or the Bill of Sale. Instead, the Indemnification Agreement was executed as a wholly separate agreement after the execution of the Purchase and Sale of Real Estate and the Bill of Sale. As stated in *Future Group*, the property given to SAM#17 pursuant to the prior Agreement of Purchase and Sale of Real Estate and the Bill of Sale cannot be considered valid consideration for the Indemnification Agreement as it is wholly past consideration. With no valid consideration available to be given by Beck for the Indemnification Agreement, the Indemnification Agreement cannot be considered a valid, enforceable contract. Therefore, the Indemnification Agreement cannot be enforced as a separate agreement because it requires separate consideration.

II. If the Indemnification Agreement was supported by valid, legal consideration, the Indemnification Agreement should be found ambiguous because of the confusion created by the use of defined terms, undefined terms, and the conflict between the first and second paragraphs of the Agreement

Even if the Court finds that the Indemnification Agreement was supported by valid, legal consideration, the Indemnification Agreement includes ambiguous terms that causes confusion

between the parties. As seen in the Indemnification Agreement, the use of defined terms “Seller” and “Purchaser” that are later confused by undefined terms “Owner” and “Buyer” causes a conflict between the first and second paragraphs of the Indemnification Agreement. The use of the defined terms “Seller” and “Purchaser” that are later muddled by the use of the undefined terms “Owner” and “Buyer” creates confusion through the Indemnification Agreement. The reason for using defined terms in contractual agreements is to eliminate confusion. But to create defined terms only to later drop those defined terms for new, undefined terms defeats the purpose of eliminating confusion. Simply trying to connect the dots to figure out the meaning of the undefined terms in relation to the defined terms does not remove the confusion and ambiguities created by this mistake. This ambiguity in terms within the Indemnification Agreement causes confusion amongst the parties.

Further, paragraphs one and two create a significant amount of confusion as to the responsibility of SAM to Beck in the Indemnification Agreement. While paragraph one seems to place a responsibility on SAM to indemnify Beck for any claims against Beck in connection with the MFSA *without limitation*, paragraph two clearly places a *financial limitation* on the amount of responsibility that SAM would owe Beck by giving SAM a maximum liability for early termination of the MFSA. When SAM terminated the MFSA with Cary, SAM paid the maximum liability under the Indemnification Agreement of \$48,648. Moreover, the damages, costs, and reasonable attorney’s fees that the Defendant is claiming are a result of the early termination of the MFSA by SAM. If SAM has already paid its maximum liability under the Indemnification Agreement for terminating the MFSA early, it would be unfair to continue to hold them liable for damages, costs, and reasonable attorney’s fees that Defendant incurs. At the very least, even if it seems more likely that Beck intended SAM to be responsible for more than the maximum liability

Beck clearly outlined in paragraph two of the agreement, it is clear that these two paragraphs create some confusion and ambiguities. Based upon the testimony of Brent Drake at trial, the two paragraphs can be read together with legitimate meaning: the maximum limit of any enforceable indemnification obligation is expressed in the first paragraph, while the obligation for the amortized incentive pay back could be less if SAM had operated the store for additional 12 month periods during the underlying litigation but SAM could be required to indemnify Beck for costs and attorney's fees incurred until the maximum limit was reached by the second paragraph. (R. p. 72-73). It was never the intent of SAM to have an unending, unlimited indemnity obligation to Beck for Beck's breaches of contract with Cary. (R. p. 30). Interpreting the Indemnification Agreement as the trial court does, creates this unintended, unfair and economically absurd result. "Where a construction of a contract makes it unusual or extraordinary and another construction, equally consistent with the language employed, would make it reasonable, fair, and just, the latter construction must prevail. An interpretation which evolves the more reasonable and probable contract should be adopted, and a construction leading to an absurd result should be avoided. *Farr v. Duke Power Co.*, 265, S.C. 356 (S.C. 1975).

It is a long-standing principle in South Carolina law that when parties have reduced their contract to writing, "the court can only look to the terms in which the parties have expressed their intentions in such writing." *Charles v. B&B Theatres, Inc.*, 234 S.C. 15, 106 S.E.2d 455 (1959); *Lagrone v. Timmerman*, 46 S.C. 372, 24 S.E. 290; *Blackwell v. Faucett*, 117 S.C. 60, 108 S.E. 295; *Mallard v. Duke*, 131 S.C. 175, 126 S.E. 525; *McPherson v. J. E. Sirrine & Co.*, 266 S.C. 183, 33 S.E.2d 501. However, when a written agreement contains ambiguous terms, parol and other extrinsic evidence is allowed to determine the intent of the parties. *Id.*

Based upon testimony at trial, SAM#17 never intended to be required to indemnify Beck for more than \$48,648.00 as set out by the Indemnification Agreement. (R. p. 73). In compliance with the Indemnification Agreement, SAM#17 has already paid the \$48,648.00 set out by the Indemnification Agreement. (R. p. 73-74, 77, 170-174). Therefore, SAM#17 has met the maximum enforceable obligation it would have been held to, according to the terms of the Indemnification Agreement, and is not obligated to pay anything else to Beck under the Indemnification Agreement. The Indemnification Agreement must be read and interpreted fairly and on its own. The only way to give a fair reading to both the first and second paragraphs of the Indemnification Agreement is to interpret the payouts in the second paragraph as the ceiling for SAM#17's indemnification liability, as the amortized amount would have been less if SAM#17 had de-branded a year later. In reading the first and second paragraphs of the Indemnification Agreement in this fair manner, there is no other conclusion that can be reached other than that SAM#17 was liable to pay a maximum of \$48,648.00 under the agreement. Since SAM#17 has already paid this amount to Beck, SAM#17 cannot be held liable for any more payment under the Indemnification Agreement.

III. Even if the Indemnification Agreement was supported by consideration and SAM#17 has not met its obligation under the Indemnification Agreement, Beck still cannot enforce the Indemnification Agreement because the Merebys misrepresented the amortization schedule and falsely indicated that they would not be liable for breaching their agreement with Cary.

The Merebys represented to SAM#17 that the signing of the Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate and the closing would not breach any agreements with Cary. (R. p. 135-136). However, this was a misrepresentation by the Merebys, as the Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate and the closing did breach a prior contract between Beck and Cary, which resulted in Cary bringing claims against Beck and the Merebys for breach of the MFSA and personal

guarantees. (R. p. 39, 103-104, 168-169). The execution of the Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate violated the MFSA between Beck and Cary, which was misrepresented by the Merebys to SAM#17 during negotiations and again at the closing of the Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate.

When entering into an agreement, if a party is “induced to make the contract by reason of any material misrepresentation” by the other party to the agreement or his agent, “specific performance will be denied, whether the misrepresentation was willful and intended, or made innocently or with an honest belief in its truth.” *Masonic Temple v. Ebert*, 199 S.C. 5, 18 S.E.2d 584 (1942). This is true even if “there existed and were accessible to defendant the means and opportunity of detecting the truth by ordinary prudence.” *Id.*

The Merebys made a misrepresentation to SAM#17 regarding the MFSA and the Unconditional Guaranty located within the MFSA. This misrepresentation by the Merebys created a situation whereby Cary kept control of SAM#17’s credit card sales, after the execution of the Agreement for the Sale and Purchase of Real Estate, as compensation for Beck and the Merebys breaching the MFSA and Unconditional Guaranty. (R. p. 27, 36). Furthermore, a reasonable inference can be made that around the time of the real estate closing, the Merebys realized that they and Beck were breaching their agreements with Cary, leading to the insistence for the Indemnification Agreement after the signing of the closing documents. This can be inferred due to the Merebys’ attorney informing the closing attorney for the transaction by email correspondence that the Indemnification Agreement was not needed. (R. p. 41, 182). Therefore, Beck is barred from enforcing the Indemnification Agreement due to the material misrepresentations to SAM#17 regarding Beck’s obligations to Cary in the MFSA and the Unconditional Guaranty. “When a contract is not performed, the party who is guilty of the first

breach, is generally the one upon whom all liability for the nonperformance rests.” *Silver v. Abstract Pools & Spas, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 585, 658 S.E.2d 539 (Ct. App. 2008). “Whenever there is a concealment, or misrepresentation of material facts, whether designedly or not, or a material breach of contract by the other party, * * * equity will not enforce the contract against him.” *Sumner v. Bankhead*, 119 S.C. 78, 111 S.E. 891 (1922).

IV. If the Indemnification Agreement was supported by consideration, SAM#17 has not met its obligation, and the Merebys did not make material misrepresentations, SAM#17 still has no liability because the Indemnification Agreement only applies to breaches after the date signed.

Any breach of contract by Beck would have occurred prior to the signing of the Indemnification Agreement by the parties. As evidenced by Plaintiff’s Exhibit 12, the Indemnification Agreement was signed by the parties no sooner than June 9 or 10, 2010. The Indemnification Agreement was therefore signed days after any agreement between or among Beck, the Merebys, and Cary had been breached, and SAM#17 is not liable to Beck under the Indemnification Agreement. (R. p. 72, 162-163).

V. If the Indemnification Agreement was supported by consideration, SAM#17 has not met its obligation, the Merebys did not make material misrepresentations, and SAM#17 is liable for breaching agreements prior to the signing of the Indemnification Agreement, SAM#17 would only be liable for what Beck paid in attorney’s fees and costs and not what the Merebys paid.

SAM#17 would only owe Beck for what it has paid in attorney’s fees and costs and not for any payouts by or on behalf of the Merebys for attorney’s fees and costs, as both Beck and the Merebys were sued by Cary and were defended by the same firm in the suit, and the only evidence in the record is that Beck did not pay any attorney’s fees in the case with Cary. (R. p. 175-178).

CONCLUSION

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