THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
In The Business Court

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-23-2325
Appellate Case No.: 2019-001909

Stop-A-Minit # 17, LLC

Appellant,

v.

Beck Enterprises, Inc.,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

December 17, 2020
Mauldin, South Carolina

The Barbare Law Firm, PA

Erick M. Barbare
S.C. Bar No. 72851
120 Renaissance Circle, Ste. 6
Mauldin SC 29662
(864) 232-2700
Fax- (864)370-3421
Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED
Dec 17 2020
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE INDEMNIFICATION IS NOT AMBIGUOUS, IS CAPABLE OF INTERPRETATION ON ITS OWN TERMS, AND THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THE RIGHTS BETWEEN THE PARTIES

In its Argument II, Appellant contends that the Indemnification is ambiguous. Appellant’s primary contention in this regard is that Paragraph Numbered Two (2) of the Indemnification used the undefined terms “Owner” and “Buyer,” rather than “Purchaser” and “Seller.” The Trial Court found that the use of these terms was a mere clerical error and that none of the parties was prejudiced by it. At trial, Brent Drake, who testified on behalf of Appellant, admitted that there was no intent for Beck to indemnify SAM for any matter:

“Q: Well, there is not a real dispute about what’s intended there, is there?”

A: As far as who is providing the Indemnification and who is receiving it, I don’t think there is a dispute.

Q: Right. Stop A Minit 17 is supposed to indemnify Beck, is that correct?

A: I would—I would think that’s what the drafter intended.” (R. p 76, line 25; R. p. 77, lines 1-8).

At trial, Counsel for Appellant likewise agreed that the use of these terms was simply a clerical error, stating “[w]ell, Your Honor, I think that the – probably the purchaser-seller owner-buyer is likely a clerical error.” (R. p. 67 lines 17-21).

No party to the Indemnification was actually confused by this clerical error or had any misapprehension about what was required of either party as a result of this error. Importantly, this error is found in a paragraph in the Indemnification that *Appellant has already performed* and is not the focus of this dispute. Appellant has already performed its obligations pursuant to this paragraph by paying Forty- Eight Thousand Six Hundred and Forty-Eight and 00/100 (\$48,648.00) on behalf of Beck for early termination of the MFSA. It is clear that Appellant understood what was required of it by this Paragraph, as it has completely satisfied its obligations required by this paragraph.

The issue to be resolved by this dispute, as framed by the pleadings, is whether or not Appellant has fully satisfied its obligations required by the Indemnification. This issue is resolved by reference to Paragraph Numbered One (1), which uses the defined terms of “Purchaser” and “Seller.” Appellant does not argue that there is any confusion caused by the use of these terms, and they are defined in the preamble to the Indemnification. (R. pp. 162-163)

The Trial Court permitted the plaintiff to introduce parol evidence over Respondent's objections to permit it to explain its intentions with respect to the Indemnification. However, because the Trial Court found that the Indemnification was unambiguous and capable of construction without resort to parol evidence, the parol evidence admitted at trial was excluded from the Trial Court's consideration of the issues before the Court. (R pp. 6-7).

Next, Appellant turns to the sole issue it pled in its complaint: has Appellant met its obligations pursuant to the Indemnification? Appellant argues it has, and that the financial limitations placed in Paragraph Numbered Two (2) of the Indemnification act as an absolute limit on its indemnity obligations. However, the Trial Court rejected this argument, finding that

A plain reading of the Indemnification leads this Court to conclude that Paragraph numbered One (1) explicitly requires SAM to indemnify Beck from "all claims, damages, actions, suits, proceedings, demands, assessments, adjustments, costs and expenses (including specifically, but without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees)." Cary's third-party claim against Beck is unquestionably, at a minimum, a claim, action, suit and proceeding in which it is seeking damages and in which Beck has incurred attorney's fees. Accordingly, Cary's third-party claim triggers Paragraph Numbered One (1) of the Indemnification.

Furthermore, the express language used in the Indemnification states that the limitations in Paragraphs 2 (A) and 2 (B) are *for early termination* of the MFSA, but do not include other matters such as damages sought by Cary Oil, reasonable attorney's and costs related to the defense of the underlying suit. The amounts listed as limitations are derived directly from the penalty provisions for early termination of the MFSA found in the MFSA itself.

SAM essentially asks the Court to insert language into the Indemnification that would include attorney's fees in the limitations provision for early termination. That language is not present in Paragraph Numbered Two (2). In fact, the converse is true, as Paragraph Numbered One (1) expressly states that SAM must indemnify Beck from damages and reasonable attorney's fees incurred as a result of or incident to the MFSA, "*without limitation.*"

Reading both Paragraphs Numbered One (1) and Two (2) together, it is clear that the parties intended that SAM indemnify Beck for precisely the type of suit, damages and attorney's fees brought by Cary against Beck and that they did not intend for Paragraph Numbered Two (2) to act as an absolute limitation of SAM's indemnification liability to

Beck. (R, pp.4-5) (Emphasis added)

While Appellant argues that the Trial Court should have considered Appellant's self-serving testimony as to its intent for the Indemnification, the Trial Court properly excluded this parol evidence from consideration in its decision. The Trial Court properly considered only the four corners of the Indemnification, as it is capable of interpretation on its own terms. "One cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties." S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enters. of Mount Pleasant, LLC, 379 S.C. 645, 655, 667 S.E.2d 7, 12 (Ct. App. 2008) (citation omitted). "To determine the intention of the parties, the court must first look at the language of the contract." Id. at 655, 667 S.E.2d at 12-13 (citation and quotation marks omitted). "The construction of a clear and unambiguous contract presents a question of law for the court." Id. at 655, 667 S.E.2d at 13 (citation omitted). "It is also a question of law whether the language of a contract is ambiguous." Id. at 655, 667 S.E.2d at 13 (citation omitted). "When a contract is unambiguous, clear and explicit, it must be construed according to the terms the parties have used, to be taken and understood in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense." Id. "Where an agreement is clear and capable of legal construction, the court's only function is to interpret its lawful meaning and the intention of the parties as found within the agreement and give effect to it." Id. (citation omitted). "We are without authority to alter an unambiguous contract by construction or to make new contracts for the parties." Id. "A court must enforce an unambiguous contract according to its terms regardless of its wisdom or folly, apparent unreasonableness, or the parties' failure to guard their rights carefully." Id. When construing terms in a contract, a court must first look at the language of the contract to determine the intentions of the parties. Furthermore, a court must gather the parties' intention from the contents of the entire agreement, not from any particular clause therein. If practical, a court

should interpret the agreement so as to give effect to all of its provisions. It is fundamental that, in the construction of the language of a contract, it is proper to read together the different provisions therein dealing with the same subject matter, and where possible, all the language used should be given a reasonable meaning. Generally, a contract is interpreted according to the terms the parties have used, and the terms are to be taken and understood in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense. Bluffton Towne Ctr., LLC v. Gilleland-Prince, 412 S.C. 554, 559, 772 S.E.2d 882, 885, 2015 (Ct. App. 2015).

II. APPELLANT’S ARGUMENTS I, III, IV AND V ON APPEAL ARE MATTERS OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF THE PLEADINGS.

Appellant raises five arguments on appeal but all, except one, involve matters that are outside the scope of the pleadings and are issues and arguments that the Trial Court properly excluded from consideration. “Due process requires notice. Therefore, the pleading limits the areas into which the court may allow the parties to go, given proper objections.” Bass v. Bass, 272 S.C. 177, 249 S.E. 2d 903 (1978). “A matter is not in issue if it has not been pled.” State v. Bailey, 226 S.C. 612, 86 S.E. 2d 472 (1955).

Appellant moved the Court to amend its complaint for the first time orally at trial (R. p. 71, lines 6-7) and subsequently in a post-trial motion (R. p. 192-198), and the Court properly denied the post-trial motion (R, p.11).

The Trial Court properly denied Appellant’s motion to amend its pleadings and confined the parties to the matters pled in the Complaint and Answer. It is important to consider the timing of Appellant’s Motion to Amend. This was not a pre-trial motion made when Respondent would have had time to conduct further discovery, prepare these issues for trial and to present

evidence as to these issues, but rather a motion made orally for the first time at trial and subsequently in a post-trial motion. Appellant sought to amend its complaint to address issues wholly distinct from the issue it pled in its complaint and for which Respondent was unprepared to address. Permitting Appellant to amend its Complaint at trial or after trial to address an issue that Respondent had no notice of is fundamentally unfair and violates due process. Respondent would have been deprived of the opportunity to discover facts that would have been relevant to these issues, to research the law on these issues and to properly prepare these issues for presentation to the Court.

Permitting Appellant to amend its complaint and have these issues considered would amount to a “trial by ambush.” It is precisely this type of prejudice to Respondent that our Courts have envisioned when denying motions to amend pleadings. “The prejudice Rule 15 envisions is a lack of notice that the new issue is to be tried and a lack of opportunity to refute it.” Stanley v. Kirkpatrick, 357 S.C. 169, 174, 592 S.E.2d 296, 298 (2004). “Prejudice occurs when the amendment states a new claim or defense that would require the opposing party to introduce additional or different evidence to prevail in the amended action.” Holland ex rel. Knox v. Morbark, Inc., 407 S.C. 227, 235, 754 S.E.2d 714, 719 (Ct. App. 2014). “It is well established that a motion to amend is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge, and that the party opposing the motion has the burden of establishing prejudice.’ Pruitt v. Bowers, 330 S.C. 483, 489, 499 S.E.2d 250, 253 (Ct.App.1998). Courts have wide latitude in amending pleadings and ‘[w]hile this power should not be used indiscriminately or to prejudice or surprise another party, the decision to allow an amendment is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will rarely be disturbed on appeal.’ Berry v. McLeod, 328 S.C. 435, 450, 492 S.E.2d 794, 802 (Ct.App.1997). ‘The trial judge's finding will not be overturned without an abuse of discretion or

unless manifest injustice has occurred.’ Id.” Duncan v. CRS Serrine Engineers, Inc., 337 S.C. 537, 542, 524 S.E.2d 115, 118 (Ct. App. 1999).

Respondent submits that this Court should likewise reject Appellant’s attempts to interject new issues into this dispute at this late date and affirm the Trial Court.

This action was commenced on April 3, 2012. (R. p, 12). The underlying action, which is still being held in abeyance pending resolution of this action, was filed on September 17, 2010 (Appendix, p. 9). The underlying action cannot proceed until a final result in the case at bar is achieved.

Respondent is reluctant to address most of the issues Appellant raises on appeal because Respondent is at an unfair advantage in responding to these issues, was not afforded the opportunity to conduct discovery on these issues and had limited opportunity to offer evidence at trial to rebut these arguments. However, Respondent does wish to offer some observations.

A, Consideration for the Indemnification

Appellant contends, in its Argument I, that the Indemnification is not an enforceable contract because it is not supported by consideration.

Respondent asserts that Appellant in fact received the consideration set forth in the Indemnification and thus received the benefit of its bargain. Appellant’s representative admitted as much at trial:

“Q: You admit that Stop A Minit received personal property and inventory from Beck Enterprises, is that correct.

A: Yes, that was before then.

Q: But you did receive it, is that right?

A: Yeah. “ (R. p. 77, lines 5-10).

Further, there is no dispute that Appellant performed part of the Indemnification by payment of \$48,648.00 to Cary Oil. The obligation stems solely from the Indemnification and from no other agreement between the parties. (R.p.77, lines 17-24).

Appellant argued for the first time at trial, in its post-trial motion and now on appeal that there was no consideration for an agreement it had already partly performed. There is no evidence in the record that Appellant did not receive the consideration stated in the Indemnification. Over seven (7) years after this Declaratory Action was filed, almost nine (9) years after the Indemnification was executed by the parties, and over eight (8) years after Appellant paid \$48,648.00 pursuant to the Indemnification, it now claims for the first time that the Indemnification is unsupported by consideration and thus is not an enforceable contract.

B. Misrepresentation of the Amortization Schedule

As with the issue of the consideration of the Indemnification, Appellant's Argument III was not a matter pled in the Complaint and one which Respondent had no notice. It was thus properly excluded from the Trial Court's consideration of this matter.

This argument goes well beyond the scope of the instant Declaratory Judgment action and makes allegations for which there is no evidence in the record. Specifically, Appellant contends that there were "misrepresentation by the Merebys, as the Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate and the closing did breach a prior contract between Beck and Cary, which resulted in Cary bringing claims against Beck and the Merebys for breach of the MFSA and personal guarantees. (R. p. 168) (R. p. 36, lines 15-19, R. p. 103, lines 18-24, R. p. 104, lines 1-8.)."

Respondent disputes Appellant's contention that the claims against Respondent in the underlying action pertain to the sale of the business and real estate to Appellant. Rather,

Respondent contends that these claims are as a result of Appellant's decision to debrand the gas station after the sale of the business. (R. p. 89 ln. 5-25; R. p. 90 lines 1-21). The third-party complaint in the underlying action does not allege that its claims are as a result of the sale of the business and real property, but rather makes claims of breach of contract of the MFSA against Respondent and the Merebys. (Appendix, pp. 8-41). Furthermore, Appellant's citation to the record for this allegation does not establish that the underlying action is a claim for a breach of contract due to the sale of the business and real estate.

Respondent concedes that the extent of Appellant's indemnity to Respondent is as set forth in the Indemnification and Appellant does not owe Respondent indemnity for matters outside its scope. (R. p. 89, lines 24-25; R. p. 90, lines 1, 19-21).

As framed by the pleadings, this Declaratory Judgment action is one to determine the narrow question of whether or not Appellant has met all of its obligations pursuant to the Indemnification. (R. p. 12, Appendix p.1, R. p. 16.) It is not one to determine the exact amount of Appellant's indemnification obligation, and this is a matter that will properly be addressed in the underlying action.

C. Effective Date of the Indemnification

In Argument IV, Appellant again raises issues not raised in its Complaint and that the Trial Court properly excluded.

Additionally, Appellant again asserts that the claims of breach of the MFSA that the Third-Party Plaintiff has made against Respondent are for matters that occurred prior to the effective date of the Indemnification. There is no evidence in the record for this assertion. Appellant's citations to the record establish only the effective date of the Indemnification, a matter that Respondent does not dispute.

Appellant concedes in its brief that it debranded the gas station subsequent to the execution of the Indemnification. (Appellant's Brief, p.2) Respondent contends that it is this event that led to the breach of the MFSA claims brought against Respondent, and not the sale of the business and real estate from Respondent to Appellant. (R. p. 89, lines 17-23).

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